Single debtor; single debt


IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE ​​______________OF____________

_______DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,


)
Plaintiff,


)
CIVIL ACTION NO.

)
__________________

)

V.






)

)

______________________________

)

__________________



)

Defendant.


)

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, United States of America, on behalf of its agency the Department of Education through the Secretary of the Education (the "Secretary"), for its Complaint against the defendant,     [Name], (the  "defendant") alleges:


JURISDICTION, PARTIES, AND VENUE 

1.
This action is brought by the United States of America pursuant to section 488A(a)(6) of the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended, (the Act), 20 U.S.C. §1095a(a)(6), for preliminary and permanent injunctions, for other equitable relief on account of the defendant's refusal to withhold and pay over to the Secretary monies owed to an employee of the defendant, in accordance with the Orders of Withholding of Employee Wages for Debt Owed to United States Government issued by the Secretary and for damages in an amount equal to the amounts that the defendant was required  to withhold pursuant to such orders but failed to withhold or pay to the Secretary.

2.
The Plaintiff is the United States of America (“the United States”).

3.
The defendant,    [Name], is      [description of the defendant]. 

4.
This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 20 U.S.C. §1095a, 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1345.

5.
Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391.


THE FEDERALLY FINANCED STUDENT LOAN PROGRAMS

6. (Choose one)

The defendant was ordered by the Secretary to withhold part of the disposable pay of Name of student loan debtor)   (“the debtor”), an employee of the defendant who had defaulted on a Federally financed student assistance obligation now held by the Secretary: 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

7. (Choose the one that applies)
PARAGRAPH FOR CONSOLIDATION LOANS:

[The debt on which the Secretary’s claim is based is a (choose one) [William D. Ford Federal Direct Loan Program]  [Federal Family Education Loan Program] Consolidation Loan made to the debtor. Consolidation loans are authorized under both the William D. Ford Federal Direct Loan Program and the Federal Family Education Loan Program (FFELP) by sections 428C and 455(g) of the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended, 20 U.S.C. 1078-3, 1087e(g). Consolidation Loans are made to pay off Federally financed loans made under the loan programs authorized under the Higher Education Act and other Federal student assistance statutes. Direct Consolidation Loans are made and enforced by the Secretary.  FFELP Consolidation Loans are made by banks or other financial institutions, are guaranteed by state or non-profit organizations (guaranty agencies), and are reinsured by the Secretary. Under these guaranty agreements, a guaranty agency agrees to reimburse eligible lenders in the event a borrower defaults. The Secretary reimburses the guaranty agency under the reinsurance agreement for these losses. The guarantor, if unsuccessful in collecting the debt, may assign the note(s) to the Secretary, who then enforces the debt against the debtor. 

PARAGRAPH FOR WILLIAM D. FORD FEDERAL DIRECT LOANS:

The debts on which the Secretary’s claim is based is a Direct Loan, made to the debtor by the Secretary under the William D. Ford Federal Direct Loan Program, which is authorized by sections 451 et seq. of the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended (20 U.S.C. § 1087a et seq.).

PARAGRAPH FOR FEDERAL FAMILY EDUCATION LOANS:

The debt on which the Secretary’s claim is based is a loan or loans made to the debtor under the Federal Family Education Loan Program (FFELP) which is authorized by sections 421 et seq. of the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended (20 U.S.C. § 1071 et seq.).  FFELP loans are made by banks or other financial institutions, are guaranteed by state or non-profit organizations (guaranty agencies), and are reinsured by the Secretary. Under the guaranty agreement, a guaranty agency agrees to reimburse eligible lenders in the event a borrower defaults. The Secretary reimburses the guaranty agency under the reinsurance agreement for these losses, and the guarantor, if unsuccessful in collecting the debt, may assign the note(s) to the Secretary, who then enforces the debt against the debtor. 

PARAGRAPH FOR FEDERAL INSURED STUDENT LOANS:
The debt on which the Secretary’s claim is based is a loan made under the Federal Insured Student Loan Program (FISLP) which is authorized by sections 427 et seq. of the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended (20 U.S.C. § 1077, 1079, and 1080 et seq.).  FISLP loans are made by banks or other financial institutions and are guaranteed by the Secretary.  In the event a borrower defaults, the Secretary reimburses the lender that holds the loan, takes assignment of the loan from the lender, and enforces the debt against the borrower.

PARAGRAPH FOR FEDERAL PERKINS LOANS:
The debt on which the Secretary’s claim is based is a loan made under the Federal Perkins Loan Program, which is authorized by section 461 et seq. of the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended (20 U.S.C. §§1087aa et seq.).  Perkins loans are made by educational institutions from a revolving loan fund capitalized by contributions from the institution and from the Secretary.  If the institution is unable to collect the loan from the borrower, the institution may assign the loan to the Secretary, who then enforces the debt against the borrower. 

PARAGRAPH FOR NATIONAL DIRECT STUDENT LOANS:
The debt on which the Secretary’s claim is based is a loan made under the National Direct Student Loan or National Defense (NDSL) Program, which is authorized by section 461 et seq. of the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended (20 U.S.C. §1087aa et seq.).  NDSL loans are made by educational institutions from a revolving loan fund capitalized by contributions from the institution and from the Secretary.  If the institution is unable to collect the loan from the borrower, the institution may assign the loan to the Secretary, who then enforces the debt against the borrower. 

Pell Grant Overpayment

The debt on which the Secretary’s claim is based is an overpayment to the debtor of Federal grant funds under the Pell Grant Program authorized under section 401 of the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended. 20 U.S.C. §1070a.   The institution that disbursed the grant funds determined that the debtor was given more grant funds than the debtor was eligible to receive, and failed to repay that amount upon demand.   The institution then referred to debt to the Secretary, who enforces repayment of that obligation.

8.
If a debtor fails to satisfy a debt owed to the Secretary or to make payments under a repayment agreement with the Secretary, section 488A of the Act authorizes the Secretary to garnish the disposable pay of the debtor by a non-judicial, or administrative, garnishment procedure.  20 U.S.C. § 1095a(a)(1).

9.
Section 488A sets forth the requirements for conducting an administrative wage garnishment, and requires the Secretary to provide notice to the debtor of the proposed garnishment and the opportunity for the debtor to obtain a hearing on any objection to garnishment prior to the garnishment becoming effective.  20 U.S.C. § 1095a.  Section 488A preempts state law regarding garnishment and limits the amount to be deducted from the wages of the debtor under such a withholding order to not more than 10 percent of the debtor’s disposable income.   20 U.S.C. § 1095a(a), (b).  

10. 
An employer served with a garnishment order who fails to pay to the Secretary in accordance with the order is liable for any amount that the employer was required to withhold from the debtor’s wages, plus attorneys' fees, costs, and when the Court determines it appropriate, punitive damages. 20 U.S.C. §1095a(a)(6).


FACTUAL BASIS
11.
[FFELP only] On or about    [dates],      [Name of student loan borrower]    (“debtor”) entered into   [how many?]    a student loan agreement,  that was guaranteed by    [Name of guaranty agency]     (the “guaranty agency”) The debtor and failed to pay the note when due and defaulted on this obligation 

12.
[FFELP only] Pursuant to its guarantee, the guaranty agency paid the note holder, received an assignment of the note, and undertook efforts to collect the outstanding balance of the note.  The guaranty agency was unable to collect the  balance owed on the loan, and assigned the loan to the Secretary on or about ____.  The Secretary is currently the holder of this note. 

13.
Pursuant to section 488A(a)(4), 20 U.S.C. § 1095a(a)(4), the Secretary gave the debtor an opportunity to enter into a repayment agreement to satisfy this debt, and the borrower has failed to enter into or honor such an agreement. Attempts by the Secretary to collect the obligation from the debtor have been unsuccessful.   As of    [date], the debtor was indebted to the United States on this obligation in the total amount of $___.  Interest continues to accrue on the outstanding indebtedness.

14.
The Secretary has determined that as of    [date of employment verification] the debtor was employed by    [the defendant/employer’s name].  The Secretary believes that as of today, the debtor remains employed by [the defendant/employer’s name] 
15.
On    [date], the Secretary mailed via first class mail a Notice of Intent to Initiate Withholding to the debtor in accordance with section 488A(a)(2). 20 U.S.C. § 1095a(a)(2).  The Secretary does not retain a copy of the actual notice; a template copy of the standardized notice is attached as Exhibit A. 

16.
[select one] The debtor did not request a hearing pursuant to section 488A(b), 20 U.S.C. § 1095a(b), nor was any other response received by the Secretary to the Notice of Intent to Initiate Withholding.  [or]

The debtor objected to the garnishment and the Secretary provided the debtor an administrative hearing as required by section 488A(b), 20 U.S.C. §1095a(b), after which he determined that the debt was enforceable by garnishment. 

17.
On or about    [date], the Secretary issued an Order of Withholding of Employee Wages for Debt Owed to United States Government (the “First Order”). that was mailed to the defendant by U.S. First Class mail on or about [date] The Secretary does not retain a copy of the actual First Order issued to the defendant.  A template copy of the First Order is attached as Exhibit B.  A copy of the record of the issuance of the First Order is included here as Exhibit B-1.

18.
The defendant failed to comply with the First Order.

19.
On or about    [date], the Secretary issued to the defendant a Second Order for Withholding Employee Wages Due to Debt Owed to United States Government  (the “Second Order”).  The Second Order notified the defendant of its failure to comply with the First Order, and that the Secretary would take enforcement action if no response was received from the defendant within 30 days of the date of the Second Order.  The Secretary does not retain a copy of the actual Second Order; a template copy of the Second Order sent to the defendant is attached as Exhibit C.  A copy of the record showing the issuance of the Second Order is enclosed as Exhibit B-1.  The Secretary received neither payments nor an explanation of the failure to make payments pursuant to the Second Order.

20.
On or about    [date], the Secretary issued to the defendant by certified mail a Final Demand Notice Letter (“Final Demand”).  The Final Demand notified the defendant of its failure to comply with the Orders, and that the Secretary would take enforcement action if no response were received from the defendant within 30 days of the date of the Final Demand.  A copy of the Final Demand sent to the defendant is attached as Exhibit D. A copy of the receipt received from the defendant showing delivery to the defendant of the Final Demand is attached as Exhibit E.


21.
A garnishment order under section 488A is a continuing order. The Secretary lacks information to determine the actual amount of the disposable pay that should have been withheld and paid over pursuant to the orders.  As of    [date], the defendant has failed to withhold and pay to the Secretary any portion of the debtor’s wages as directed in the orders.  

COUNT I
22.
The allegations of Paragraph 1 - 21 are incorporated herein by this reference as though fully set forth.

23.
The defendant is in violation of section 488A(a)(6) of the Act, 20 U.S.C.§ 1095a(a)(6), by refusing and failing to withhold and pay to the Secretary the appropriate portion of the wages of its employee,    [debtor/borrower’s name]. 

24.
The defendant is liable to the United States for all amounts which the defendant failed to withhold from the wages due the borrower in accordance with, and following receipt of, the First Order. 

25.
The defendant is liable to the United States in the amount of the least of: (1) ten percent of the debtor’s disposable wages, (2) the amount by which the debtor’s disposable earnings for a week exceeds thirty times the federal minimum hourly wage, see15 U.S.C. § 1673(a), from the date on which the defendant received the First Order to the date on which the debtor ceased to be employed by the defendant, or (3) the amount of the debtor’s obligation to the Secretary. 


COUNT II

 
26.
The allegations of Paragraphs 1 - 25 are incorporated herein by this reference as though fully set forth.

27.
The defendant remains in violation of section 488A(a)(6), 20 U.S.C. § 1095a(a)(6), which requires the defendant to withhold monies from the debtor’s wages and pay them to the Secretary.  This refusal is a continuing violation of section 488A(a)(6), 20 U.S.C. § 1095a(a)(6).

28.
The defendant's refusal to comply with the Orders is causing a substantial and irreparable injury to the Secretary's ability to administer the student assistance programs authorized under the Act.  The United States has no adequate remedy at law. 

WHEREFORE, the United States of America respectfully requests that the Court enter judgment in its favor on Count I for the amount of the debtor’s obligation to the Secretary or such smaller amount as the defendant was obligated to withhold from the debtor’s disposable pay and pay to the Secretary pursuant to the Orders, plus costs and attorney fees, and for such further relief as the court deems appropriate under the circumstances.  The United States further requests that on Count II, the Court enter a preliminary and permanent injunction:

(a)
Ordering the defendant to comply with section 488A, 20 U.S.C. § 1095a, and with the terms of the Orders;

(b)
Ordering the defendant to withhold from the wages due the debtor and pay to the Secretary an amount equal to 10 percent of the debtor’s disposable earnings, or the amount by which the debtor’s disposable earnings for the week exceeds thirty times the federal minimum hourly wage, whichever is less in accordance with 15 U.S.C. § 1673(a);

(c)
Ordering the defendant to continue to make such deductions and payments to the Secretary until the obligation owed by the debtor to the Secretary is paid in full, or until the debtor ceases to be employed by the defendant, whichever event shall occur first.

Respectfully Submitted,

___________

UNITED STATES ATTORNEY  
             By:
___________________________

___________________________

            Assistant United States Attorney

_________________

_________________

_________________

_________________

Of Counsel:

JENNIFER L. WOODWARD

U.S. Department of Education

Office of General Counsel

Room 6C119

400 Maryland Ave. SW

Washington, D.C. 20202
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